

**COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT** 

The NDP (SK Section) ~ and ~ COPE Local 397 April 1, 2022, to March 31, 2025

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article	Title	Page
ARTICLE 1 -	PURPOSE	1
	RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER	
	BARGAINING AGENCY	
	UNION SECURITY	
	HOURS OF WORK - CLERICAL AND OFFICE EMPLOYEES	
	OVERTIME - CLERICAL AND OFFICE EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 7 -	HOURS OF WORK - MAINTENANCE/CARETAKER POSITION	3
	SERVICE REQUIREMENTS, ORGANIZERS & COMMUNICATION STAFF	
	PAID HOLIDAYS	
	- VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 11 -	- SICK LEAVE PROVISIONS	6
ARTICLE 12	- LEAVE OF ABSENCE	7
ARTICLE 13	- EDUCATION LEAVE AND EXAMINATIONS	9
ARTICLE 14	- SENIORITY	10
ARTICLE 15	- VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS	10
ARTICLE 16	- LAYOFFS AND RECALLS	11
	- JOB SECURITY	
ARTICLE 18	- FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND EQUAL PAY FOR EQUAL WORK	12
ARTICLE 19	- RESIGNATIONS	13
ARTICLE 20	- DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE	13
ARTICLE 21	- GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	14
	- ARBITRATION	
	- LABOUR MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS	
	- HEALTH AND SAFETY	
	- TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
ARTICLE 26	- PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	20
ARTICLE 27	- JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION	22
	- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS	
	- GENERAL CONDITIONS	
	- PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES	
	- TERM OF AGREEMENT	
	A – SALARY SCHEDULE – EFFECTIVE – JANUARY 1, 2023	
	A – SALARY SCHEDULE – EFFECTIVE – JANUARY 1, 2024	
	A – SALARY SCHEDULE – EFFECTIVE – JANUARY 1, 2025	
	B – LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1 – CALL CENTRE SUPERVISOR	
	<b>3 – LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 2 – CALL CENTRE INTERVIEWERS</b>	
	B – LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 3 – SUMMER STUDENT	32
	B – LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 4 – JOINT COMMITMENT TO TRUTH AND	
	ATION	
	C – LEAVE OF ABSENCE – DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE PLAN	
	) – SALARY DEFERRAL ARRANGEMENT	
	E – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER INFORMATION	
INDEX		

# COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Between

#### THE CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION (COPE), LOCAL 397 HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS THE "UNION"

 $\sim$  and  $\sim$ 

#### THE NEW DEMOCRATIC PARTY (SASKATCHEWAN SECTION) HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS THE "EMPLOYER"

#### **ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE**

The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain a harmonious relationship between the New Democratic Party and its Employees; to provide for an amicable method of settling differences which may from time to time arise; to promote the mutual interest of the New Democratic Party office and its Employees; to promote and maintain such conditions of employment; in recognition whereof, the parties hereto covenant and agree as follows.

#### **ARTICLE 2 – RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER**

The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to hire, promote, demote, transfer, alter the work and duties of, suspend or otherwise discipline or discharge any Employee for just cause, subject to the right of the Employee concerned to lodge a grievance in the manner and to the extent provided in Article 20.

## **ARTICLE 3 – BARGAINING AGENCY**

3.1 Recognition. The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole collective bargaining agency for the fulltime, permanent part-time, part-time and temporary Employees whose duties fall within the classifications listed in Appendix "A". Such Employees are hereinafter referred to as "eligible Employees".

#### 3.2 Scope

- 3.2.1 Excepted from this Agreement shall be: the Chief Executive Officer (Provincial Secretary); the Assistant Provincial Secretary/Administration; the Assistant Provincial Secretary/Outreach; the Director of Accounting; the Director of Communications; Director of Organization; the Director of Development; the Production and Online Manager; the Senior Administrative Assistant.
- 3.2.2 In addition, Employees hired on a casual basis for periods of two (2) weeks or less shall also be considered outside the scope clause of this Agreement.
- 3.2.3 New positions will become the subject of negotiations between the Employer and Union(s) representing Employees of the Employer.

- 3.3 Agree to Negotiate. The Employer agrees to negotiate with the Union, representatives of the Union, or any of its authorized committees concerning any and all matters affecting the relationship between the parties, aiming toward a peaceful and amicable settlement of any differences that may arise between them.
- 3.4 Work of the Bargaining Unit. Persons whose jobs (paid or unpaid) are not in the bargaining unit shall not displace any jobs which are included in the bargaining unit, except in cases mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties.
- 3.5 Union Officers and Committee Members. Union Officers and Committee Members shall be entitled to leave their work during working hours in order to carry out their functions under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the investigation and processing of grievances, attendance at meetings with the Employer, participation in negotiations and arbitration. Permission to leave work during working hours for such purposes shall first be obtained from the immediate supervisor. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. All time spent in performing such Union duties, including work performed on various committees, as referred to in this Agreement, shall be considered as time worked.
- 3.6 No Other Agreements. No Employee shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or their representative which may conflict with the terms of this Collective Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 4 – UNION SECURITY**

- 4.1 Membership. The Employer agrees that every Employee who is now or hereafter becomes a member of the Union shall maintain membership in the Union as a condition of employment, and every new Employee whose employment commences hereafter shall, within thirty (30) days after the commencement of employment, apply for and maintain membership in the Union as a condition of employment.
- 4.2 Dues. The Employer agrees to deduct the amount authorized as Union fees, dues and assessments, once each month and transmit the monies monthly as collected to the Financial Secretary of the Union, together with a list of the Employees for whom deductions were made.
- 4.3 Union Shop. The Employer agrees to acquaint potential Employees with the fact that a Union Agreement is in effect, and with the conditions of employment set out in the Articles dealing with Union Security and Dues Check-off.
- 4.4 New Employees. On commencing employment, the Employee's immediate supervisor shall introduce the new Employee to their Union Steward or Representative. An Officer of the Union shall be given an opportunity to interview each new Employee within regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a maximum of thirty (30) minutes during the first month of employment for the purpose of acquainting the new Employee with the benefits and duties of Union membership and their responsibilities and obligations to the Employer and the Union.
- 4.5 Dues Deductions. At the time that Income Tax (T-4) slips are made available, the Employer shall include the amount of Union dues paid by each Union member in the previous year.
- 4.6 Correspondence. A copy of any correspondence between the Employer, or their designate and any Employee in the bargaining unit, pertaining to the interpretation, administration, or application of any part of this Agreement shall be forwarded to the Union office.
- 4.7 The Employer agrees that the premises shall be identified as a COPE Local 397 workplace.

# ARTICLE 5 – HOURS OF WORK – CLERICAL AND OFFICE EMPLOYEES

5.1 Work Period. Regular hours of work will be seven and one-half (7 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) hours per day, Monday to Friday with twelve (12) casual days off per year.

- 5.2 Casual days will be taken per month; with prior approval of Management. Such casual days must be taken in the year in which they are earned.
- 5.3 Hours of Work. The regular workday shall be from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with a one (1) hour lunch break that may be altered in such a way to provide coverage for service to the members.
- 5.4 Rest Periods. Employees shall be entitled to two (2) rest periods: one fifteen (15) minute period in the morning and one (1) fifteen (15) minute period in the afternoon.

#### **ARTICLE 6 – OVERTIME – CLERICAL AND OFFICE EMPLOYEES**

- 6.1 Regular. All time worked, at the authorization of the Employer, in excess of the regular workday shall be paid at the rate of double time.
- 6.2 Weekends, Statutory Holidays and Days of Rest
  - 6.2.1 All work done on Saturdays and Sundays shall be paid at the rate of double time.
  - 6.2.2 All work done on statutory holidays and days of rest shall be paid at the rate of double time. Such payments are in addition to regular salary.
- 6.3 Call-Back
  - 6.3.1 An Employee who has completed their regular day's work and has left the office and is then required to come back to work shall be credited with a minimum of three (3) hours of work for which the Employee shall be paid at the appropriate rate.
  - 6.3.2 An Employee who is required to work on a Saturday, a Sunday, or on a statutory holiday, shall be credited with a minimum of three (3) hours of work for which the Employee shall be paid at the appropriate overtime rate.

## ARTICLE 7 – HOURS OF WORK – MAINTENANCE/CARETAKER POSITION

7.1 The hours of work for the maintenance/caretaker position will vary from week to week dependent on activity at Tommy Douglas House and the need for maintenance and cleaning. It is expected that there will be a minimum of six (6) hours per week for regular cleaning; however, there will inevitably be extra work for events in the hall.

## ARTICLE 8 – SERVICE REQUIREMENTS, ORGANIZERS & COMMUNICATION STAFF

- 8.1 Norm. The basis for determining the time organizing staff are to be at the disposal of the Party is:
  - 8.1.1 Organizing staff shall work the number of hours required to do their job;
  - 8.1.2 Where "do their job" has its common labour relations meaning: duties are performed and the standard of work is satisfactory.
- 8.2 This norm regulates both what the Party requires of staff and what Employees are obligated to provide.
- 8.3 There is no standard number of hours in any of a day, week, multi-week period, month or year that organizing staff shall work. However, excessive hours of work and/or conditions of work will be brought to the Employer's attention by the Employee.
- 8.4 The time spent by an Employee in doing their job:
  - 8.4.1 Varies from day to day, week to week, month to month, and year to year;
  - 8.4.2 Varies from Employee to Employee;

- 8.4.3 Requires working at times when volunteers are available (i.e., weekends, early mornings, noon hours, etc.);
- 8.4.4 Includes extensive travel;
- 8.4.5 Involves "grey" areas regarding distinctions between being at work and not at work;
- 8.4.6 Involves being not at work at times during the day or on days during the week when office staff are required to work;
- 8.4.7 Can present a continuous workload over lengthy periods of time;
- 8.4.8 Amounts to a heavy workload in total.
- 8.5 Time Off
  - 8.5.1 In recognition of the heavy workload and to ensure Employees receive time away from work, organizing staff shall be provided with extra leave with pay as follows:
    - 8.5.1.1 Casual Days. Twelve (12) days to be taken at the Employee's discretion or when suggested by the Employer. Any unused casual days will be carried forward to a maximum of twelve (12) months from the start of the New Year.
    - 8.5.1.2 Election Campaigns and Conventions
      - a) Provincial:
        - Ten (10) days off with pay for each provincial election campaign on which an organizer works, to be taken on a schedule to be worked out with the Employer.
      - b) Federal:
        - Five (5) days off with pay for each federal election campaign on which an organizer works, to be taken on a schedule worked out with the Employer.
      - c) By-Elections:
        - Five (5) days off with pay for each provincial by-election campaign on which an organizer works, to be taken on a schedule worked out with the Employer.
      - d) Out-of-Province Election Campaigns:
        - The Employer shall not require Employees to work on out-of-province campaigns. If an Employee volunteers at the request of the Employer to work in out-of-province campaigns they shall be entitled to an additional five (5) days off with pay.
    - 8.5.1.3 Conventions. Two (2) days off with pay for each provincial convention (annual or special) for organizers required to work at such convention.
  - 8.5.2 The calendar year shall be used as the period for administering this leave. Any unused leave will be carried forward to a maximum of twelve (12) months from the start of the new year.
- 8.6 This entire Article also shall apply to the Communications Officer and for this purpose any references in it to "Organizers" shall be interpreted as referring to the Communications Officer as well.
- 8.7 Out-of-Province. Employees working in out-of-province assignments shall maintain all rights, benefits and privileges of this Agreement, unless the Employee chooses otherwise.
- 8.8 Equipment and Supplies. Organizers who are located outside the central office shall be provided with a computer and required peripherals, software and office supplies as needed, paid by the Employer.

# ARTICLE 9 – PAID HOLIDAYS

9.1 Paid Holidays. The Employer recognizes the following as paid holidays: New Year's Day, Family Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, Victoria Day, Canada Day, One Floating Holiday, Saskatchewan Day, Labour Day, National Day for Truth and Reconciliation, Thanksgiving Day, Remembrance Day, Christmas Day, Boxing Day, and any other day declared or proclaimed as a holiday by the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Government, plus the last four (4) hours on the Employee's last regularly scheduled day or shift prior to New Year's Day, and the last four (4) hours on the Employee's last regularly scheduled day or shift prior to Christmas Day.

The date of the Floating Holiday shall be by agreement between the Employee and the Employee concerned.

- 9.2 Saturday or Sunday. In the event that any holiday mentioned in the preceding section occurs on a Saturday, Sunday, or scheduled day off, the preceding day or the next working day shall be considered the holiday.
- 9.3 Subject to reasonable notice, it is understood and agreed that in the case of recognized religions, wherever possible, Employees shall be allowed to use vacation credits or be granted leave of absence without pay for the observation of their religious holidays.

## **ARTICLE 10 – VACATIONS**

- 10.1 10.1.1 The Vacation year shall be defined as January 1 to December 31 of each year.
  - 10.1.2 Length of Vacation. An Employee shall receive an annual vacation with pay in accordance with the Employee's years of employment as follows:

less than one (1) year	_	1 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> working days for each month
one (1) or more years	_	15 working days
after five (5) years	_	20 working days
after fifteen (15) years	_	25 working days
after twenty-five (25) years	_	30 working days

Annual leave shall be earned at the rate of one and one-quarter (1 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>) days for each completed month of service for new Employees. Leave for all other Employees will be calculated as applicable.

- 10.2 Minimum Vacation. Upon request, an Employee with less than three (3) weeks of earned vacation may be granted sufficient leave of absence without pay to allow a minimum of three (3) weeks vacation.
- 10.3 Banking Vacation Credits. An Employee entitled to three (3) weeks vacation or more may be entitled to bank up to a maximum of four (4) weeks annual vacation. No Employee shall be forced to take banked vacation at a time unacceptable to the Employee; however, such banked vacation must be taken in the year immediately following the vacation year in which the vacation was earned.
- 10.4 Compensation for Holidays Falling Within Vacation Schedule. If a paid holiday falls or is observed during an Employee's vacation period, they shall be allowed an additional vacation day with pay at a time mutually agreed upon by the Employee and the Employer.
- 10.5 Vacation Pay on Termination. An Employee terminating employment at any time in the vacation year, prior to using their vacation, shall be entitled to a proportionate payment of salary or wages in lieu of such vacation, prior to termination.
- 10.6 Unbroken Vacation Period. An Employee shall receive an unbroken period of vacation unless mutually agreed upon between the Employee and the Employer.
- 10.7 Approved Leave of Absence During Vacation. Where an Employee qualifies for sick leave after producing a medical certificate, bereavement, or any other approved leave during their period of vacation, there shall be no deduction from vacation credits for such absence. The period of vacation so displaced shall either be added to the vacation period or reinstated for use at a later date, as mutually agreed upon.
- 10.8 Previous Service. Employees having previously served with the Employer shall, on re-employment within five (5) years, have all previous service with the Employer credited for purposes of vacation entitlement only.

#### **ARTICLE 11 – SICK LEAVE PROVISIONS**

- 11.1 Sick Leave Defined. Sick leave means the period of time an Employee is absent from work with full pay by virtue of being sick or disabled, exposed to a contagious disease, or under examination or treatment of a physician, chiropractor or dentist, or because of an accident for which compensation is not payable under the Workers' Compensation Act.
- 11.2 Amount of Paid Sick Leave. Sick leave shall be earned at the rate of one and one-half (1 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) days for every month an Employee is employed. Further sick leave with pay within any yearly period shall be left to the discretion of the Employer.
- 11.3 Accumulation of Sick Leave. The unused portion of an Employee's sick leave shall accrue for **their** future benefits, to a maximum of two hundred (200) days.
- 11.4 Sick Leave Records. Immediately after the close of each calendar year, the Employer shall advise each Employee in writing of the amount of sick leave accrued to their credit.
- 11.5 Illness in the Family. Where no one other than the Employee can provide for the needs during illness of an immediate member of their family an Employee shall be entitled, after notifying their supervisor, to use a maximum of five (5) accumulated sick leave days per illness to care for the member of the family who is ill. Immediate family shall be defined as spouse, parents, child, siblings, grandparents, grandchild or others where there is an equivalent relationship.
- 11.6 Deduction from Sick Leave
  - 11.6.1 A deduction shall be made from accumulated sick leave of all normal working days (exclusive of holidays) absent for sick leave. Absence on account of illness for less than half a day shall not be deducted. Absence for half a day or more, and less than a full day, shall be deducted as one-half (<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) day.
  - 11.6.2 Deductions from sick leave credits other than those outlined in Article 11.1 will be limited to days in excess of twelve (12) days.
- 11.7 In instances where the expected duration of an illness will be longer than ten (10) working days and the Employee has less than ten (10) days incidental sick leave in the bank, the Employer will allow the Employee to borrow up to five (5) incidental sick days from future accumulations. The Employee will be required to pay back any borrowed sick leave as soon as future accumulations become available.
  - 11.7.1 In the event that the Employee terminates employment and has not reimbursed the Employer for any borrowed sick leave, the Employer shall be entitled to recover such amounts from the Employee's final disbursements.
- 11.8 Medical Certificate . An Employee may be required to produce a certificate from a medical practitioner for any illness in excess of seven (7) working days or where an illness or injury may require restrictions or limitations to accommodate a return to work. When a medical certificate is requested, it should confirm a bona fide medical condition, explain prognosis as it relates to the workplace and return to work, and list any restrictions or limitations on the employee's ability to perform their duties. If requested, the Employer shall pay the cost of the certificate.
- 11.9 Sick Leave During Leave of Absence. When an Employee is given leave of absence for any reason, they shall receive sick leave credit for the period of such absence on their return to work.

#### **ARTICLE 12 – LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

- 12.1 Negotiation Pay Provisions. Representatives of the Union shall not suffer any loss of pay or benefits for total time involved in negotiations with the Employer.
- 12.2 Grievance and Arbitration Pay Provisions. Representatives of the Union (the number of which is defined in Article 21.1.2, shall not suffer any loss of pay or benefits for the total time involved in grievance and arbitration procedures.
- 12.3 Leave of Absence for Union Functions. Upon request to the Employer, an Employee elected or appointed to represent the Union at conventions or attend meetings of the Union, its affiliated or chartered bodies and any labour organizations with which the Union is affiliated shall be allowed leave of absence without pay and without loss of benefits
- 12.4 Leave of Absence for Full-Time Union or Public Office.
  - 12.4.1 The Employer recognizes the right of an Employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon written request, the Employer shall allow leave of absence for a reasonable period without loss of seniority and benefits so that the Employee may seek nomination as a candidate or be a candidate in federal, provincial, municipal, board of education or band council elections.
  - 12.4.2 An Employee who is elected to public office shall be allowed leave of absence that may be necessary without loss of seniority during their term of office.
  - 12.4.3 An Employee who is elected or selected for a full-time position with the Union, or any body with which the Union is affiliated, shall be granted leave of absence without loss of seniority for a period of one year. Such leave shall be renewed each year, on request during their term of office.
- 12.5 Pay During Leave of Absence for Union Work or Convention. An Employee shall receive the pay and benefits provided for in this Agreement when on unpaid leave of absence for Union work or conventions. However, the Union shall reimburse the Employer for all pay during the period of absence.
- 12.6 Protection During Maternity. Maternity leave shall be considered as a right. Accordingly, no Employee shall be laid off or otherwise adversely affected in **their** employment because of pregnancy. The Employer shall not deny the pregnant Employee the right to continue employment during the period of pregnancy. Where working conditions may be hazardous to an unborn child or to the pregnant Employee, the Employee shall be entitled to transfer to another position, provided **they are** capable of performing the work and **are** otherwise entitled thereto by virtue of seniority.
- 12.7 An Employee may access **their** sick leave credits for the health-related portion of maternity leave. The length of such leave is to be determined by **their** physician who will in turn provide the Employer with the necessary documentation. During the time the **Employee** is on sick leave, the Employer will pay its usual share of benefit premiums.
- 12.8 Length of Maternity and Parental Leave. Maternity leave shall cover a period up to fifteen (15) weeks before and/or after the birth of a child. Such leave must be used as early as twelve (12) weeks before the expected date of birth, and can end as late as seventeen (17) weeks after the actual date of birth. Parental leave shall cover a period up to sixty-one (61) weeks for the birth or adoption of a child of which the employee is a parent. Such leave must be used within a seventy-eight (78) week period after the week the child was born or placed for purposes of adoption.
- 12.9 Seniority Status During Maternity and Parental Leave . While on maternity and/or parental leave an employee shall retain their full employment status and rights and shall accumulate all insured benefits under this collective agreement.

- 12.10 Employer Payment of Employee Benefits During Maternity and Parental Leave . During the period of maternity and/or parental leave, the Employer shall continue to pay its share of the hospital, medical, dental, disability, group life and pension benefits of this Agreement.
- 12.11 Procedure Upon Return From Maternity and Parental Leave . When an employee decides to return to work, after maternity or parental leave, they shall provide the Employer with at least two weeks' written notice. On return from maternity or parental leave, the employee shall be placed at minimum in their former position. If the former position no longer exists, they shall be placed in a position of similar rank and value at the same rate of pay.
- 12.12 Parental Leave. Whenever possible, the employee will inform the employer at least a month before the desired leave of absence. On request, the employee will supply a medical report confirming pregnancy and indicating the anticipated date of delivery or documentation indicating the adoption placement. Leave of absence with full pay and benefits shall be granted for a period not to exceed two weeks at time of birth or adoption of a child.
- 12.13 Paid Jury or Court Witness Duty Leave. The Employer shall grant leave of absence without loss of seniority and benefits under the terms of this Agreement to an Employee who serves as juror or witness in any court or who is required by subpoena to attend a court of law or coroner's inquest. The Employee shall turn over, to the Employer, any witness and jury fees or other indemnities paid to them by the courts **for days the Employee was scheduled to work**. Such monies turned over shall not include monies paid for expenses. The Employee will present proof of service and the amount received. Time spent by an Employee required to appear before any government body, or who is subpoenaed to attend a coroner's inquest or is required to serve as a court witness in any matter arising out of their employment shall be considered as time worked at the appropriate rate of pay.
- 12.14 General Leave. An Employee shall be entitled to leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority when the Employee requests in writing such leave for good and sufficient cause. Such request must be approved by the Employer and shall not exceed one year and permission shall not be withheld without just cause.
- 12.15 Earned Vacation and Sick Leave on Death. If an Employee who has been granted more vacation or sick leave with pay than they have earned dies, the Employee is considered to have earned the amount of leave with pay granted.
- 12.16 Earned Sick Leave on Termination. When the employment of an Employee who has been granted more sick leave with pay than they have earned is terminated or laid off by the Employer, the Employee is considered to have earned the amount of leave with pay granted to them.
- 12.17 Leave of absence without pay may be granted to permanent full-time Employees within the terms of the Deferred Salary Leave Plan. Upon return, the Employee will be reinstated in their former classification. Eligible Employees considering such a leave can contact the Assistant Provincial Secretary for a copy of the Policy.
- 12.18 Compassionate Leave
  - 12.18.1 An Employee who intends on applying for Employment Insurance compassionate leave benefits must advise the Employer at the time of application.
  - 12.18.2 An Employee who has been approved for the compassionate leave benefit under the Employment Insurance program must notify the Employer in writing of their intent to commence such leave and provide documentation confirming such approval. Upon receipt of this information, the Employee shall be granted leave without pay for not more than twenty-eight (28) weeks within a fifty-two (52) week period. Leave must be taken in one-(1) week blocks of time.
  - 12.18.3 On return from compassionate leave, the Employee will be reinstated in their former job.
  - 12.18.4 Upon return from compassionate leave, the Employee will receive the same salary and benefits as they received prior to such leave including any general salary increases and benefit changes which occurred during the period that they were on compassionate leave.

#### 12.19 Paid Bereavement Leave

- 12.19.1 An Employee shall be granted a minimum of five (5) regularly scheduled consecutive work days, without loss of pay or benefits, in the case of death or serious illness of the Employee's spouse or common-law spouse, parent, sibling, child, step-child, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, great grandparent, spouse's grandparent, grandp
- 12.19.2 An Employee shall be granted a minimum of three (3) regularly scheduled consecutive work days leave, without loss of pay or benefits, in the case of death or serious illness of an aunt, uncle, former guardian, ward, fiancée, or any other relative or close friend who has been residing in the same household, or any other relative for whom an Employee is required to administer bereavement responsibilities. A relative shall include a person related by marriage, adoption, or common-law. Where the burial occurs outside the province, such leave shall also include reasonable travelling time, but in no event shall the total leave exceed five (5) working days.
- 12.19.3 Reasonable leave for attendance at funerals for close friends or relative other than those listed above shall be arranged between the Employee and the Employer.
- 12.19.4 In recognition of the fact that circumstances which call for bereavement leave are based on individual circumstances, the Employer, on request, may grant additional bereavement leave.
- 12.20 Interpersonal Violence and Sexual Violence Leave. Employees may take leave under the circumstances and in the manner set forth in section 2-56.1 of *The Saskatchewan Employment Act* of up to ten (10) days in a period of one year without loss of pay or benefits. Upon request and upon provision of reasonable verification of necessity, the employer may grant one additional unpaid leave of up to seventeen (17) consecutive weeks.

# ARTICLE 13 – EDUCATION LEAVE AND EXAMINATIONS

- 13.1 The Employer agrees that it is to the mutual benefit of the Employer and the Employee to improve the educational standards of the workforce.
  - 13.1.1 Accordingly, the Employer agrees that Employees with five (5) years employment, who wish to further their education, may be permitted up to one (1) year of education leave. A request for education leave shall not be unreasonably denied. Any benefits based on service and seniority shall be retained but not accumulated. The Employee shall be placed in a position equivalent to that which they held prior to the education leave.
  - 13.1.2 When the Employer requests an Employee to attend a course the Employer will pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost of registration.
  - 13.1.3 When the Employer requests an Employee to attend a course related to political education or job skills, the Employer will pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost upon registration.
  - 13.1.4 When an Employee requests the approval of the Employer to attend a course (such course shall be related to work) and the Employer agrees, the Employer will pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost of registration. The reimbursement will be made as follows: fifty per cent (50%) upon registration, and fifty per cent (50%) upon successful completion of the course. The appropriateness of the course shall be determined by the Employer. Once determined, approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
  - 13.1.5 In the event an Employee attends an educational course as specified above, and that day is other than Monday to Friday, then a compensating day off with pay shall be granted and taken by the Employee immediately preceding or succeeding the day of the attendance of such course or at such other time as is mutually agreed upon between the Employer and the Employee.

13.2 An Employee shall be entitled to leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority and benefits to write examinations to up-grade their employment qualifications.

# **ARTICLE 14 – SENIORITY**

- 14.1 Seniority Defined. Seniority is defined as the length of service in the bargaining unit and shall include service with the Employer prior to the certification or recognition of the Union. Seniority shall be used in determining preference or priority for promotion, transfer, demotion, layoff, permanent reduction of the workforce, and recall, as set out in other provisions of this Agreement. Seniority shall operate on a bargaining-unit-wide basis.
- 14.2 Seniority List. The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the current classifications and the date upon which each Employee's service commenced. Where two or more Employees commence work on the same day, preference shall be in accordance with the date of application. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the Union and posted on all bulletin boards in January of each year.
- 14.3 Probation for Newly-Hired Employees.
  - 14.3.1 A new Employee who has completed, under competent supervision, a probationary period of six (6) months shall have their name placed on the seniority list effective from the date of employment. Such Employee shall be notified in writing that they have satisfactorily completed their probationary period.
  - 14.3.2 If an Employee's suitability is questionable at the end of the probationary period, it may be extended by mutual agreement between Union and the Employer for an additional three (3) months. All rights and benefits will, however, commence after the first applicable two (2) or three (3) months of service.
  - 14.4 Loss of Seniority. An Employee shall not lose seniority if they are absent from work because of sickness, disability, accident, layoff or leave approved by the Employer. Seniority service records shall be considered broken when an Employee voluntarily leaves the service of the Employer, or is discharged for cause.
  - 14.5 Increments. A permanent Employee will be entitled to an increment upon completion of twelve (12) months service and this date shall establish the annual increment unless changed by promotion.

## **ARTICLE 15 – VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS**

- 15.1 Job Postings. When a new position is created, or when a vacancy of a temporary or permanent nature occurs, which shall include the resignation of an incumbent, the Employer shall immediately notify the Union in writing and post notice of the position on the bulletin board for a minimum of one (1) week, so that all members will know about the vacancy or new position. Positions shall be posted within one (1) week of vacancy.
- 15.2 Information in Postings. Such notice shall contain the following information: nature of position; qualifications; required knowledge and education; skills; hours of work; wage or salary rate or range. Such qualifications and requirements shall be those necessary to perform the job function and may not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner.
- 15.3 Organizing Vacancies. If an organizing position becomes vacant, any other organizer has the right to apply and the position shall be filled on the basis of seniority.
- 15.4 No Outside Advertising. No outside advertisement for any vacancy shall be placed until the applications of present Union members have been fully processed.

- 15.5 Role of Seniority in Promotions, Transfers, and Staff Changes. Both parties recognize:
  - 15.5.1 The principle of promotion within the service of the Employer.
  - 15.5.2 That job opportunity should increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in making staff changes, transfers, or promotions, appointment shall be made of the applicant with the greatest seniority and having the required qualifications. Appointments from within the bargaining unit shall be made within three (3) weeks of posting. The job shall be filled within one (1) week of appointment.
  - 15.5.3 The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to determine what other classifications need staffing based on the personnel needs and financial capabilities of the Employer.
- 15.6 Trial Period. The successful applicant shall be notified within one (1) week following the end of the posting period. Organizer positions will have a trial period of three (3) months and a two (2) month trial period will apply to every other position during which time the successful applicant will receive the necessary training for the position. The Employer shall not curtail the trial period without just cause before it has run its full course. Conditional on satisfactory service, the Employee shall be declared permanent after the period of two (2) months. In the event the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the position during the trial period, or if the Employee is unable or unwilling to continue to perform the duties of the new job classification, they shall be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority. Any other Employee promoted or transferred because of the re-arrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority.
- 15.7 Notification to Employee and Union. Within seven (7) calendar days of the date of appointment to a vacant position, the name of the successful applicant shall be sent to each applicant and a copy posted on all bulletin boards. The Employer, upon request of the Employee shall provide a full written explanation and notification of any shortcoming in their qualifications to all senior applicants who have been denied promotion, or transfer. The Union shall be notified of all promotions, demotions, hirings, layoffs, transfers, recalls, resignations, retirements, deaths or other termination of employment.
- 15.8 Withdrawal. Postings cannot be withdrawn without mutual consent of the Employer and Union.
- 15.9 Hiring Up-Range. New hires who have had previous experience may receive credit by placement at one step higher in the range but only if such experience warrants it and when agreed to by the Union.
- 15.10 Training Course
  - 15.10.1 The Employer shall post any training courses and experimental programs for which Employees may be selected. The bulletin shall contain the following information: type of course (subject and material covered); time, duration, and location of course; and minimum qualifications required from applicant.
  - 15.10.2 This bulletin shall be posted for a period of two (2) weeks on the bulletin board to afford all interested Employees an opportunity to apply for such training.
  - 15.10.3 Except where the Union and the Employer have jointly agreed to an Affirmative Action Plan to redress inequities, the qualified applicant with the greatest seniority shall be selected.
  - 15.10.4 Time spent in such training shall be considered to be time worked.

## ARTICLE 16 – LAYOFFS AND RECALLS

16.1 Definition of Layoff. A layoff shall be defined as a reduction in the workforce that is thought to be of duration of one (1) year or less or a reduction in the regular hours of work as defined in this Agreement. An extension to a layoff shall not be utilized to avoid the provisions of Article 28.5.

- 16.2 Role of Seniority in Layoffs. Both parties recognize that job security shall increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in the event of a layoff, Employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their bargaining-unit-wide seniority. An Employee about to be laid off may bump any Employee with less seniority, providing the Employee exercising the right is qualified to perform the work of the Employee with less seniority. The right to bump shall include the right to bump up.
- 16.3 A period of sixty (60) calendar days shall be afforded, if necessary, to the senior Employee to retrain for the position.
- 16.4 Temporary Layoff. Employees shall accumulate seniority while on temporary layoff. Any layoff shall be temporary unless the Employee concerned is notified to the contrary at the time of layoff.
- 16.5 Recall Procedure. Employees shall be recalled in the order of their seniority. The onus shall rest on the Employee to keep the Employer informed of their whereabouts.
- 16.6 No New Employees. New Employees shall not be hired until those laid off have been given an opportunity of recall.
- 16.7 Advance Notice of Layoff. Unless legislation is more favourable to the Employees, the Employer shall notify Employees who are laid off with a written notice thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of layoff. If the Employee has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article, they shall be paid for the days for which work was not made available.
- 16.8 Layoff Re-employment. In the event of any layoff or resignation, of the in-scope staff of the New Democratic Party, Saskatchewan Section, the Employer shall undertake all reasonable efforts to arrange for the re-employment of the displaced staff with affiliated and allied organizations as openings become available.
- 16.9 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls. Grievances concerning layoffs and recalls shall be initiated according to Article 21.4.2 of the Grievance Procedure.

## ARTICLE 17 – JOB SECURITY

- 17.1 The Employer agrees not to sub-contract or lease any work which would ordinarily be performed by the Employees if this would result in the reduction of hours, layoff or termination of any Employee.
- 17.2 The Union recognizes the need for and agrees to the use of volunteer assistance during peak load periods, and the use of volunteers during election campaigns. Under no circumstances will this result in a reduction of working hours, or layoff, or termination of Employees covered by this Agreement.

## ARTICLE 18 – FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND EQUAL PAY FOR EQUAL WORK

- 18.1 The Employer and the Union agree that where an Employee has the necessary qualifications and/or has proven their ability to handle the work, there shall be no discrimination in hiring, promoting or paying any Employee because of race, colour, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender orientation, disability, age, marital status, or ethnic origin.
- 18.2 Harassment.
  - 18.2.1 The Union and the Employer recognize the importance of maintaining a work environment that is free of harassment and will work jointly to achieve that goal.

- 18.2.2 a) Harassment is defined as any unwelcome or unwanted action by any person against another. It can be non-verbal, verbal or physical action in nature. It can be displaying material of a sexual nature, on a single or repeated basis which humiliates, insults, degrades, threatens or intimidates. "Unwelcome" or "unwanted" in this context means any actions which the harasser knows, or reasonably ought to know, are not desired by the victim of harassment.
  - b) Harassment is also an expression of perceived power and superiority by the harasser(s) over another person, usually for reason over which the victim has little or no control. Harassment is not (a) bona fide work related interaction such as work assignment, performance feedback, counselling or disciplinary action, or (b) normal social contact between people based on position of equality or mutual consent.
- 18.2.3 Any Employee who has been found to have harassed another Employee will be disciplined. The nature of the disciplinary action will depend on the gravity of the misconduct and any mitigating circumstances. Discipline may range from a reprimand for a first offence of a minor nature, to suspension or dismissal for repeated offences and/or serious cases involving threats or reprisals.
- 18.2.4 An Employee who believes **they have** been the subject of harassment has a responsibility to make an objection clearly known to the offender. Complaints of harassment that cannot be resolved by the parties directly involved can be dealt with in the following manner:
  - a) The Employee(s) can refer the complaint directly to the Employer and/or the Union Steward.
  - b) All complaints shall be supplied concurrently to the Employer and the Union, and will be handled as quickly as possible.
- 18.2.5 Complaints will be handled in accordance with a mutually-agreed upon complaint mechanism.
- 18.2.6 Nothing in this Article shall limit the Employee's right to access the grievance procedure.

# **ARTICLE 19 – RESIGNATIONS**

- 19.1 19.1.1 A probationary Employee who intends to terminate their employment with the Employer shall give seven (7) days notice thereof.
  - 19.1.2 An Employee who has passed probation who intends to terminate their employment with the Employer shall give fifteen (15) calendar days written notice thereof.

# ARTICLE 20 – DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

- 20.1 Principle of Innocence. Both parties agree that an Employee is considered innocent until proven guilty. Therefore, in the event the Employer initiates a disciplinary action against an Employee, which may result in the suspension or discharge of the Employee, the following procedure shall be followed.
- 20.2 Discipline Procedure.
  - 20.2.1 The Employee shall be notified in writing by the Employer, with full disclosure of the reasons, grounds for action, and/or penalty, with a copy to the Union.
  - 20.2.2 If an Employee feels the action or penalty is unjust, such Employee will file a grievance within three (3) working days. While such grievance is being processed through the grievance or arbitration procedure, the Employee will continue in employment with all rights and privileges of this Agreement; however, continuation of employment will not apply in cases of gross misconduct.
- 20.3 Burden of Proof. In the case of discharge and/or discipline, the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Employer. At the arbitration hearing, evidence shall be limited to the grounds stated in the discharge or discipline notice to the Employee, or as documented through the grievance proceedings.

- 20.4 Warning. Whenever the Employer or his authorized agent deems it necessary to censure an Employee, in a manner indicating that dismissal or discipline may follow any further infraction or may follow if such Employee fails to bring their work up to a required standard by a given date, the Employer shall, within ten (10) days thereafter, give written particulars of such censure to the Union, with a copy to the Employee involved.
- 20.5 Designation of Supervisor. Every Employee shall be notified of the name of their immediate designated supervisor.
- 20.6 Crossing of Picket Lines During Strike. An Employee covered by this Agreement shall have the right to refuse to cross a picket line or refuse to do the work of striking or locked out Employees, or refuse to handle goods from an Employer where a strike or lockout is in effect. Failure to cross such a picket line or to perform the work of striking or locked out Employees or to handle goods from an Employer where a strike or lockout is in effect by a member of this Union shall not be considered a violation of this Agreement, nor shall it be grounds for disciplinary action, other than loss of wages for the period involved.
- 20.7 Political Action. No Employee shall be disciplined for participation in any political action(s) called for by the Canadian Labour Congress, its affiliates, or subordinate bodies, however, deduction of Employees' wages shall not be considered discipline.
- 20.8 Right to Have Steward Present.
  - 20.8.1 An Employee shall have the right to have their steward present at any discussion with supervisory personnel which the Employee believes might be the basis of disciplinary action. Where a supervisor intends to interview an Employee for disciplinary purposes, the supervisor shall so notify the Employee in advance of the purpose of the interview in order that the Employee may contact their steward to be present at the interview.
  - 20.8.2 A steward shall have the right to consult with a Union officer or representative and to have them present at any discussion with supervisory personnel which might be the basis of disciplinary action.
- 20.9 Personnel Records.
  - 20.9.1 An Employee shall have the right, at any time, to have access to and review their personnel record.
  - 20.9.2 Any disagreement as to the accuracy of information contained in the file may be subject to the grievance procedure and the eventual resolution thereof shall become part of the Employee's record.
  - 20.9.3 No evidence from the Employee's record may be introduced as evidence in any hearing of which the Employee was not aware at the time of filing.
  - 20.9.4 An Employee shall have the right to make copies of any material contained in their personnel record.

## **ARTICLE 21 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 21.1 Recognition of Union Stewards and Grievance Committee.
  - 21.1.1 In order to provide an orderly and speedy procedure for the settling of grievances, the Employer acknowledges the rights and duties of the Union grievance committee and the Union steward. The steward may assist any Employee in preparing and presenting their grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure.
  - 21.1.2 There shall be a grievance committee consisting of not more than two (2) members designated by the Union.

- 21.2 Permission to Leave Work. The Employer agrees that stewards shall not be hindered, coerced, restrained, or interfered with in any way in the performance of their duties while investigating disputes and presenting adjustments as provided in this Article. The Union recognizes that each steward is employed full time by the Employer and that they will not leave their work during working hours except to perform their duties under this Agreement. Therefore, no steward shall leave their work without obtaining the permission of their supervisor and will minimize, as much as possible, the time and disruption to the workplace involved in the investigation.
- 21.3 Definition of Grievance. A grievance shall be defined as any difference arising out of the interpretation, application, administration, or alleged violation of the Collective Agreement of a case where the Employer has acted unjustly, improperly, or unreasonably.
- 21.4 Settling of Grievances. An earnest effort shall be made to settle grievances fairly and promptly in the following manner:

Steps:

- 21.4.1 Informal Step. Before any complaint becomes a grievance, the individuals involved will attempt to resolve the problem though an informal discussion with the immediate supervisor. Failing satisfactory resolution of the problem, the Employee may proceed through the formal grievance steps.
- 21.4.2 The Union shall submit the grievance to the Provincial Secretary. The Provincial Secretary has five (5) working days in which to respond to the grievance.
- 21.4.3 If no agreement is reached, the Union shall have three (3) working days within which to notify the President of the Party asking for a hearing with the Review Board. The Board will have seven (7) working days within which to meet and an additional two (2) working days from the date of the meeting within which to respond. The Board will be composed of three (3) people, one of which is to be named by the Union, the other two (2) by the President of the Party.
- 21.4.4 If no settlement has been reached, the Union has five (5) working days within which to give notice asking for a hearing before the Provincial Executive of the Party. The Executive shall have seven (7) working days within which to call a meeting. An additional two (2) working days from the date of the meeting shall be given for the Executive to respond.
- 21.4.5 Failing a satisfactory settlement being reached in Article 21.4.4 within thirty (30) calendar days the grievance may be referred to arbitration. All time limits referred to above, may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 21.5 Policy Grievance. Where a dispute involving a question of general application or interpretation occurs or where a group of Employees, the Union, the Employer and their representatives has a grievance, Article 21.4.1 may be bypassed.
- 21.6 21.6.1 Union May Institute Grievances. The Union and its representatives shall have the right to originate a grievance on behalf of Employees, or group of Employees and to seek redress in the manner provided in the grievance procedure. Such a grievance shall commence in accordance with Article 21.4.2.
  - 21.6.2 Employer May Institute Grievances. The Employer may institute a grievance on its behalf. Such grievance shall be filed with the Union and shall commence at a mutually-agreed upon step.
- 21.7 Deviation from Grievance Procedure. After a grievance has been initiated by the Union, the Employer's representative shall not enter into discussion or negotiation with respect to the grievance, either directly or indirectly with the aggrieved Employee, without the consent of the Union.
- 21.8 Grievance on Safety, Etc. In cases involving alleged unsafe or unhealthy work conditions (including cases of sexual harassment or other forms of discrimination) Employee(s) shall have the right to file a grievance according to Article 21.4.2 of the grievance procedure for preferred handling.

- 21.9 Replies in Writing. Replies to grievances stating reasons shall be in writing at all stages.
- 21.10 Facilities for Grievances. In order to facilitate an orderly and confidential investigation of grievances, the Employer shall make available the temporary use of a private office or similar facilities for the grievance meetings.
- 21.11 Mutually-Agreed Changes. Any mutually-agreed changes during the life of this Collective Agreement shall form part of this Collective Agreement and are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

# ARTICLE 22 – ARBITRATION

- 22.1 Single Arbitrator. The parties shall first attempt to agree to a single arbitrator. If no agreement can be reached, the following procedure will apply.
- 22.2 Composition of Board of Arbitration. When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to arbitration, the request shall be made by registered mail addressed to the other party of the Agreement, indicating the name of its nominee on an Arbitration Board. Within five (5) days thereafter, the other party shall answer by registered mail indicating the name and address of its appointee to the Arbitration Board. The two appointees shall select an impartial chairperson.
- 22.3 Failure to Appoint. If the party receiving the notice fails to appoint an arbitrator, or if the two appointees fail to agree upon a chairperson within seven (7) days of their appointment, the appointment shall be made by the Dean of the College of Law, University of Saskatchewan, upon request of either party.
- 22.4 Board Procedure.
  - 22.4.1 In resolving disputes, an Arbitration Board shall have regard to the real substance of the matters in dispute and the respective merits of the positions of the parties, and shall apply principles consistent with *The Saskatchewan Employment Act* and not be bound by a strict legal interpretation of the issue in dispute.
  - 22.4.2 The Arbitration Board shall have the power to receive and accept evidence and information on oath, affidavit, or otherwise as in its discretion it considers proper, whether or not the evidence is admissible in a court of law.
  - 22.4.3 A grievance or arbitration shall not be deemed invalid by reason of a defect in form, a technical irregularity, or an error of procedure, if it results in a denial of natural justice. An Arbitrator may relieve against those defects, irregularities or errors of procedure on just and reasonable terms.
- 22.5 Decision of the Board. The decision of the majority shall be the decision of the Board. Where there is no majority decision, the decision of the Chairperson shall be the decision of the Board. The decision of the Board of Arbitration shall be final, binding and enforceable on all parties, and may not be changed. The Board of Arbitration shall not have the power to change this Agreement or to alter, modify or amend any of its provisions or make any decision contrary to the provisions of this Agreement. However, the Board shall have the power to amend a grievance, modify penalties or dispose of a grievance by any arrangement which it deems just and equitable.
- 22.6 Disagreement on Decision. Should the parties disagree as to the meaning of the Board's decision, either party may apply to the Chairperson of the Board of Arbitration to reconvene the Board to clarify the decision.
- 22.7 Expenses of the Board. Each party shall pay:22.7.1 The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator it appoints.22.7.2 One-half of the fees and expenses of the Chairperson.
- 22.8 Amending of Time Limits. The time limits fixed in the arbitration procedure may be extended by consent of the parties. The time limits in this section are not mandatory but merely discretionary.

- 22.9 Witnesses. At any stage of the grievance or arbitration procedure, the parties shall have the assistance of the Employee or Employees involved and any necessary witnesses.
- 22.10 Access. All reasonable arrangements shall be made to permit the conferring parties or Arbitrator(s) to have access to the Employer's premises to view any working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance.

## ARTICLE 23 – LABOUR MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS

- 23.1 Representatives.
  - 23.1.1 The Employer shall not bargain with or enter into any agreement with an Employee or group of Employees in the bargaining unit. No Employee or group of Employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without the proper authorization of the Union. In representing an Employee or group of Employees, an elected or appointed representative of the Union shall be the spokesperson.
  - 23.1.2 In order that this may be carried out, the Union will supply the Employer with the names of its officers. Likewise, the Employer shall supply the Union with a list of its supervisory personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.
- 23.2 Union Bargaining Committee. A Union bargaining committee shall consist of not more than three (3) members, of which only two (2) will be from the bargaining unit. The Union will advise the Employer of the Union members of the committee.
- 23.3 Function of Bargaining Committee. All matters pertaining to performance of work, operational problems, rates of pay, hours of work, collective bargaining, and other working conditions shall be referred by the Union bargaining committee to the Employer for discussion and settlement.
- 23.4 Meeting of Committee. In the event either party wishes to call a bargaining meeting, the meeting shall be held at a time and place fixed by mutual agreement. However, such meeting must be held not later than three (3) weeks after the request has been given.
- 23.5 Time Off for Meetings. Any representative of the Union or the bargaining committee, who is in the employ of the Employer, shall have the right to attend meetings concerning this Collective Agreement held within working hours without loss of remuneration.
- 23.6 Technical Information. Within thirty (30) calendar days of a request by the Union, the Employer shall make available to the Union any information required by the Union such as job descriptions, postings in the bargaining unit, job classifications, in-scope wage rates, financial and actuarial information pertaining to pension and welfare plans relevant to this Agreement and other information required for collective bargaining purposes.
- 23.7 Union Accommodations. In order that the Union can properly represent the Employees in labour/management relations, the Employer shall provide the Union with meeting accommodations on the premises.

# ARTICLE 24 – HEALTH AND SAFETY

24.1 Cooperation on Safety. The Union and the Employer shall cooperate in promoting and improving rules and practices which promote an occupational environment which will enhance the physiological and psychological conditions of Employees and which will provide protection from factors adverse to Employee health and safety. There shall be no discrimination, no penalty, no intimidation and no coercion when Employees comply with this Health and Safety Article.

- 24.2 Compliance with Health and Safety Legislation. The Employer shall comply with all applicable federal, provincial and municipal health and safety legislation and regulations. All standards established under the legislation and regulations shall constitute minimum acceptable practice to be improved upon by agreement of the Union/Employer health and safety committee or negotiations with the Union.
- 24.3 Union/Employer Health and Safety Committee. A health and safety committee shall be established which is composed of an equal number of Union and Employer representatives, but with a minimum of two Union and two Employer members. The health and safety committee shall hold meetings quarterly, if requested by the Union or by the Employer for jointly considering, monitoring, inspecting, investigating, reviewing and improving health and safety conditions and practices. Minutes shall be taken of all meetings and copies shall be sent to the Employer and Union.
- 24.4 Collective Bargaining. Should the Employer fail to implement the recommendations of the committee, they shall become the subject of collective bargaining.
- 24.5 Time Off for Health and Safety Training. Union members of the health and safety committee shall be entitled to time off from work within reason with no loss of seniority or earnings to attend educational courses and seminars sponsored by government agencies or the Union for instruction and upgrading on health and safety matters, such leave to be approved by the Employer.
- 24.6 Health and Safety Committee Pay Provisions. Time spent by members of the committee in the course of their duties shall be considered as time worked and shall be paid for in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- 24.7 Safety and Health Reports, Records and Data. The Employer shall provide the members of the health and safety committee with the details of every accident, incident, or occurrence of an occupational disease that occurred at the worksite in the previous month. In addition, the Employer shall provide members of the committee with any other health and safety records in the possession of the Employer, including records, reports and data provided to and by the Workers' Compensation Board and other government departments and agencies.
- 24.8 Access to the Workplace. Members of the health and safety committee shall conduct an inspection of the Provincial office quarterly or following an accident or incident. No restriction shall be placed on this inspection. In the event of an accident, an incident or an occupational health problem, a Union member of the health and safety committee shall be allowed to complete an investigation of the occurrence.
- 24.9 Right to Refuse or Stop Unsafe Work. Members of the health and safety committee shall have the right to stop any work considered unsafe or hazardous. No Employee shall be discharged, penalized or disciplined for refusing to work on a job or in any workplace or to operate any equipment where they or a member of the health and safety committee believes that it would be unsafe or unhealthy to themselves, an unborn child, a workmate, or the public, or where it would be contrary to the applicable federal, provincial or municipal health and safety legislation or regulations. There shall be no loss of pay or seniority during the period of refusal. No Employee shall be ordered or permitted to work on a job which another worker has refused until the matter is investigated by the health and safety committee and satisfactorily settled.
- 24.10 Proper Training. No Employee shall be required to work on any job or operate any piece of equipment until they have received proper training and instructions.
- 24.11 Health and Safety Grievance. Where a dispute involving a question of general application or interpretation of this Article occurs, it shall be subject to the grievance procedure and step (a) of the grievance procedure may be bypassed.

- 24.12 Employee and Family Assistance Plan
  - 24.12.1 All Employees and their family members shall be covered by an Employer-paid Employee and Family Assistance Plan which provides counselling on a strictly confidential basis for psychological, marital, financial, harassment, parent-child, family background, alcohol and drug misuse problems and for legal referrals.
  - 24.12.2 The Employee and Family Assistance Plan shall be administered by a joint rehabilitation committee consisting of two (2) representatives of the Union and two (2) representatives of the Employer to deal with these problems in the workforce. The committee shall enjoy the full support of both parties and shall be vested with the authority to make recommendations concerning the administration and/or operation to their respected principles.
  - 24.12.3 Objectives. The Union and the Employer recognize that Employees who access the Employee and Family Assistance Plan are doing so to overcome a wide range of personal problems. The individual Employee will be given reasonable opportunity to rehabilitate themselves before any decision is taken by the Employer regarding disciplinary action. The Union and the Employer therefore agree that:
    - a) An Employee must be advised, in the presence of a Union official, that the Employer is concerned about the effect of this problem upon their work performance.
    - b) The Employee who is so advised must be given the opportunity to enroll in the Employee and Family Assistance Plan.
    - c) The Employee shall be allowed access to their sick leave credits during such time that they are required to be off work and on Employee and Family Assistance Plan.
    - d) Any disciplinary action taken by the Employer against the Employee is subject to the Employee's right to grieve.
  - 24.12.4 CPR Training. The Employer will make available to a sufficient number of Employees the opportunity to attend a properly-accredited cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) course. Time spent attending this course will be considered as time worked, and the Employer will assume all costs, if any, of this course.

# ARTICLE 25 – TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

- 25.1 Employer to Bargain. In the event of proposed technological change including, but not limited to, the introduction of data processing equipment, computers or automated equipment of any sort, the Employer agrees to meet with the Union to discuss such changes and negotiate new wage rates.
- 25.2 Notice to be Given. The Employer further agrees to give the Union as much notice as possible, but in no event less than sixty (60) days, prior to implementing such changes.
- 25.3 Data Supplied. The notice shall be given in writing and shall contain pertinent data, including:
  - 25.3.1 The nature of the change.
  - 25.3.2 The date on which the Employer proposes to effect the change.
  - 25.3.3 The approximate number, type and location of Employees likely to be affected by the change.
  - 25.3.4 The effects the change may be expected to have on Employees' working conditions and terms of employment.
- 25.4 Transfer and Bumping Rights. An Employee, who is rendered redundant or displaced from their job as a result of technological change or other change, shall be given an opportunity to fill any vacancy for which they have-seniority and which they are able to perform. If there is no vacancy, they shall have the right to displace Employees with less seniority, provided they are able to perform the job.
- 25.5 New Jobs. Any job created by virtue of the installation of such equipment shall be posted and filled in accordance with the Collective Agreement. It is mutually agreed that present Employees shall be given first opportunity to qualify for the new position before any person outside the bargaining unit is hired to fill the resultant jobs.

- 25.6 Training. In the event training programs are necessary for Employees to qualify for such jobs, the Employer agrees to institute a training program for those Employees who wish to accept employment in resultant positions. Employees to be displaced, if any, shall be given first opportunity to qualify for the new positions.
- 25.7 Training Benefits. The training period shall not exceed two (2) months at the expense of the Employer. There shall be no reduction in wage or salary rates during the training period of any such Employee. The two (2) month period referred to above may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 25.8 Disputes. If the Employer and the Union fail to agree upon such measures, the matter shall become subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure for the purpose of determining a resolve of the dispute.
- 25.9 Severance. The Employer agrees to make every effort to prevent that Employees be rendered redundant or displaced from their jobs as a result of technological change. However, in the event that previously stated clauses affecting technological change and any other efforts fail to prevent redundancy, the Employer agrees that the Employees so adversely affected will have access to severance pay in accordance with Article 25.10. Any entitlement of thirty (30) weeks or more shall be payable in equal monthly instalments between age at termination and age sixty-five (65).
  - 25.9.1 If an Employee elects to receive severance pay, such election shall terminate their status under the Collective Bargaining Agreement. If the Employee is subsequently re-employed, they shall be rehired as a new Employee.
- 25.10 Calculation of Severance Pay. The severance pay applicable under the conditions set forth herein is as follows:

Years of Seniority	Weeks of Pay
13 weeks but less than one	1
One but less than three	2
Three but less than five	4
Five but less than ten	6
Ten but less than fifteen	at least 1 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> weeks for every year of service
Fifteen or more	at least 2 weeks for every year or service
	with a maximum of fifty-two (52) weeks

A week of pay for the purpose of this Article shall mean 1/52 of annual regular salary.

## ARTICLE 26 – PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

- 26.1 Pay Days. The Employer shall endeavour to pay salaries prior to 11:45 a.m. on or before the 15<sup>th</sup> and the last day of the month in accordance with Schedule "A" attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement. On each pay day, each Employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of their wages, overtime, and other supplementary pay and deductions. Expenses are to be submitted at minimum monthly. Expense claims will be paid within two weeks of submission. If an employee identifies an urgent need for reimbursement, the employer will make best efforts to pay within two days of that identification.
- 26.2 Deductions. The Employer may not make deductions from wages or salaries unless authorized by statute, court order, arbitration order or by this Agreement. Overpayment shall not be recoverable by the Employer where such recovery would be unreasonable or unfair.
- 26.3 Assigned, Promoted or Reclassified.

- 26.3.1 An Employee assigned, promoted or reclassified in accordance with the Collective Agreement to a higher paying position shall be placed in the pay grade in the new classification which is at the same step.
- 26.3.2 The date of promotion to the new classification shall become the anniversary date for application of the salary progression. After three (3) months at the higher rate, the Employee shall be reclassified at that rate.
- 26.4 Performance of Higher Duties.
  - 26.4.1 When an Employee temporarily relieves in, or performs the principle duties temporarily of a higher paying position for which a salary range has been established, they shall receive the next higher step or a minimum of ten per cent (10%), whichever is greater, but in no event shall the increase be greater than the salary of the person replaced.
  - 26.4.2 When the higher position is outside the bargaining unit, the Employee shall receive the rate of pay for the position filled but in any event the increase shall not be less than ten per cent (10%), however, at no time shall the increase be greater than the salary of the person replaced.
  - 26.4.3 The Employee shall be deemed to be covered by all provisions of this Collective Agreement, including check-off of Union dues, during the period of temporary transfer.
- 26.5 Performance of Lower Duties. When an Employee is assigned in accordance with the terms of this Collective Agreement to a position paying a lower rate, their rate shall not be reduced. However, should an Employee request such an assignment then the lower rate of pay shall apply.
- 26.6 Expenses. In-Town. In-town approved expenses will be paid by the Employer. Parking and mileage expenses in town are approved expenses. Other in-town expenses must be approved.
- 26.7 Allowances and Expenses.
  - 26.7.1 All Employees traveling on behalf of the Employer will be paid in accordance with the prevailing provincial government mileage rate.
  - 26.7.2 All travel shall be calculated from the first day to the last day of each week.
  - 26.7.3 Employees will be required to log travel on a daily basis, excluding travel to and from work and personal travel.
  - 26.7.4 Whenever feasible, Employees will utilize a rental vehicle when required to travel on Employer's business.
  - 26.7.5 Out-of-Town. For out-of-town assignments, there will be reimbursement for hotel accommodation shall be paid actual and reasonable expenses with receipts.
  - 26.7.6 During the lifetime of this Agreement, the Employer agrees to reimburse the Employee the following costs to a maximum of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per day for out-of-town meals: Breakfast \$10.00; Lunch \$15.00; Supper \$25.00. The above-mentioned expenses do not require receipts for reimbursement. The Employer also agrees to reimburse the Employee the actual cost of hotel accommodation while out-of-town. This expense will require a receipt.
  - 26.7.7 While working out-of-town and no hotel receipt is submitted, the sum of twenty dollars (\$20) per night shall be paid in lieu of reimbursement for hotel expenses.
  - 26.8 Childcare. Employees requiring paid childcare will receive five (5) dollars an hour to a maximum of forty dollars (\$40) per day to cover the cost of childcare while working outside of normal working hours. Receipts shall be supplied.

26.9 Communication Devices. The Employer agrees to provide each Organizer with an appropriate communication device or reimburse the Employee, as work-related expenses, to a maximum of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) per month to cover the cost of using a personal mobile communication device. This provision will also apply to any Clerical and Office employee and the Call Centre Supervisor if they are required by the employer to use their personal mobile communications device for more than incidental work use.

# ARTICLE 27 – JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION

- 27.1 Job Description. The Employer agrees to draw up job descriptions for all positions for which the Union is bargaining agent. These descriptions shall be presented and discussed with the Union and shall become the recognized job descriptions unless the Union presents written objection with thirty (30) calendar days. If such objection cannot be resolved, the issue may be subject to grievance and arbitration.
- 27.2 Changes in Classifications Within the Bargaining Unit. The Employer shall prepare a new job description whenever a job is created or whenever the duties of a job change. When the duties of any job are changed or increased, or where the Union and/or an Employee feels a job is unfairly or incorrectly classified, or when a new job is created or established, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. If the parties are unable to agree on the reclassification and/or rate of pay for the job in question, such dispute shall be submitted to grievance and arbitration for determination. The new rate shall become retroactive to the time the new position was first filled by the Employee or the date of change in job duties.
- 27.3 Present job descriptions for COPE Local 397 members have been presented to the Union and agreed to as of 2004, with the exception of the Communications Officer which was agreed to in 2014.

# ARTICLE 28 – EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

- 28.1 Pension Plan.
  - 28.1.1 Contributions. Each Employee will contribute by payroll deduction an amount equal to six (6) per cent of their monthly salary and the Employer will contribute six (6) per cent of the Employee's monthly salary. Employees will be allowed to contribute additional amounts up to the maximum allowed by the Income Tax Act. Employee vesting rights in the Employer's contributions will commence after one (1) year in the plan with one hundred per cent (100%) vesting rights. Credit for vesting rights will be retroactive to date of employment. It has also been agreed that the federal pension plan is in addition to the above-mentioned plan. Upon commencement of employment, Employees shall receive a booklet(s) describing the benefit plans in detail.
  - 28.1.2 Administration. Administration fees for the plan shall be paid by the Employer to a maximum of twelve hundred dollars (\$1,200) per annum.
- 28.2 A benefit plan will be implemented to provide the following benefit programs:
  - 28.2.1 Group Life
  - 28.2.2 Accidental Death and Dismemberment
  - 28.2.3 Long Term Disability
  - 28.2.4 Dental Plan
  - 28.2.5 Extended Health Benefits vision care to a maximum of three hundred dollars (\$300) every two(2) years.

The combined premium cost of these plans shall be allocated between the Employer and the Employees as follows: the Employer shall pay the necessary premium up to the point where it represents twelve per cent (12%) of payroll; any premium in excess of twelve per cent (12%) of payroll shall be shared equally between the Employer and the Employees. Any reduction in the Employee share of the premiums would be passed on to the Employees.

- 28.3 Workers' Compensation Protection.
  - 28.3.1 All Employees shall be covered by the Workers' Compensation Act. No Employee shall have their employment terminated as a result of absence from work with a compensable accident.
  - 28.3.2 When an Employee is injured in the performance of their duties during working hours, they must report such injury to management immediately. Providing the accident is compensable under the provisions of the current Workers' Compensation Board Act, the Employee shall receive, in addition to their Workers' Compensation Board payment, an amount from the Employer for a period of up to one (1) year. The combined payment shall equal the Employee's regular monthly salary less the normal monthly deductions.
  - 28.3.3 Pending receipt of payment from the Workers' Compensation Board, suitable advances shall be mutually arranged for between the Employee/Union and the Employer.
- 28.4 Return to Work. An Employee who is no longer deemed to have a compensable injury shall be placed in their former equivalent position with the Employer.
- 28.5 Severance Pay. Where the employment of an Employee is terminated by the Employer (except for just cause) or where the termination is by mutual agreement, the following severance will be paid:

Years of Seniority	Months of Pay
One but less than two	1
Two but less than three	2
Three but less than four	3
Four but less than five	4
Five but less than fifteen	6

A month's pay for the purpose of this Article is the rate of pay as shown in Appendix "A" – Salary Schedule of this Agreement.

28.6 When an Employee is not eligible for the benefit plan(s) under Article 28.2, the Employee shall be paid on each cheque an amount equal to four per cent (4%) of pay. This payment will begin after the benefit plan waiting period has been served.

## **ARTICLE 29 – GENERAL CONDITIONS**

- 29.1 Personal Rights. The rules, regulations and requirements of employment shall be limited to matters pertaining to the work requirements of each Employee. Employees will not be asked or required to do personal services for a supervisor which are not connected with the operation of the Employer.
- 29.2 Personnel Records. The personnel records of an Employee, or former Employee, shall not be shared in any manner with any other employer or agency without the prior written consent of the Employee concerned.

# 29.3 Adverse Report.

- 29.3.1 The Employer shall notify an Employee in writing of any expression of dissatisfaction concerning their work within ten (10) working days of the event of the complaint, with copies to the Union. This notice shall include particulars of the work performance which led to such dissatisfaction. If this procedure is not followed, such expression of dissatisfaction shall not become part of the Employee's record for use against them in regard to discharge, discipline, promotion, demotion, or other related matters. This Article shall be applicable to any complaint or accusation which may be detrimental to an Employee's reply to such complaint, accusation or expression of dissatisfaction shall become part of their record.
- 29.3.2 The record of an Employee shall not be used against them at any time after twelve (12) months following a suspension or disciplinary action, including letters of reprimand or any adverse reports.
- 29.3.3 Failure to grieve previous discipline or to pursue the grievance to arbitration shall not be considered an admission that such discipline was necessarily justified, but rather that the matter was settled at whatever step the grievance stopped.
- 29.4 Letter of Reference. On termination of employment for any reason, the Employer shall provide a letter of reference on request.
- 29.5 Bulletin Boards. The Employer shall provide bulletin boards which shall be placed so that all Employees will have access to them and upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the Employees.
- 29.6 Meetings. At the request of either party, meetings will be held not more frequently than once a month between the Employer and a committee of two (2) representing the Union to discuss any questions, excluding grievances, which may arise in connection with office routine as well as any suggestions which may be forthcoming to improve the various phases of the business of the Employer; but it is understood and agreed that in all matters of policy and operation not otherwise specifically covered by this Agreement, the decision of the Employer shall be final.
- 29.7 Present Conditions and Privileges. The Employer agrees that the existing privileges not covered by this Agreement, and which do not conflict with the terms or principles of the Agreement, will not be withdrawn or altered during the term of this Agreement without good cause. The Employer will negotiate with the Union prior to any contemplated change.
- 29.8 Continuation of Acquired Rights. All provisions of this Agreement are subject to applicable laws now or hereafter in effect. If any law now existing or hereafter enacted, or proclamation or regulation shall invalidate or disallow any portion of this Agreement, the entire Agreement shall not be invalidated and the existing rights, privileges and obligations of the parties shall remain in existence. In such an event, this Agreement shall be re-opened for negotiation. If there is no agreement between the parties on this issue, the matter shall be resolved by arbitration.
- 29.9 Moving Costs. Employer to pay full direct moving costs including disconnect and hook-up charges but excluding real estate and legal fees for Organizers transferred by the Employer to another location which requires moving of household.
- 29.10 Identification Cards. Identification cards for Organizers to be obtained by the Employer to get them a commercial travellers rate of accommodations.

29.11 Starter Kit. To facilitate the commencement of employment as an Organizer, a starter kit containing basic materials, **including an emergency kit for road travel**, will be provided **and replenished as necessary**. If the employee does not qualify for a corporate credit card or requires assistance to defray initial travel, meal or accommodation expenses, the employee may request an expense advance. The advance will be deducted against expense claims, and any remaining owed will be repaid on the second full pay period following employment.

## **ARTICLE 30 – PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES**

30.1 Permanent Employees who work less than the normal hours of work in a month shall (after completion of their probationary period) accrue all rights and benefits under the terms of this Agreement on a prorated basis based on hours worked.

#### **ARTICLE 31 – TERM OF AGREEMENT**

- 31.1 Duration. This Agreement shall be effective from April 1, **2022**, to March 31, **2025**, and from year to year thereafter.
- 31.2 Changes in Agreement. Any changes deemed necessary to this Agreement may be made by mutual agreement at any time during the existence of this Agreement.
- 31.3 Notice. Either party may, not less than sixty (60) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the termination date, give notice in writing to the other party that they wish to negotiate a revision to this Agreement.
- 31.4 Commencement. Such notice having been given, negotiations shall commence as soon as possible, but in any event not later than two (2) weeks prior to the expiry date of the Agreement. In case of an election, annual convention, or any special convention falling within this period as referred to in Article 31.2, then the meeting will be postponed to a mutually-agreeable date.
- 31.5 At the first meeting, the Union shall submit its written proposals to the Employer and the Employer shall then immediately submit its written proposals to the Union. No further proposals may be entertained except by mutual agreement.
- 31.6 Provisions to Apply. Where notice to amend the Agreement is given, the provisions of this Agreement shall continue in force until a new Agreement is signed or the right to strike accrues, whichever occurs first. If negotiations extend beyond the termination of the Agreement, any revision in terms mutually agreed upon shall apply retroactively to that date, unless otherwise specified.

Judy Bradley President

Tim Williams Provincial Secretary/CEO

Date:

ept 20, 2023

FOR: THE CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION (COPE) LOCAL 397:

Stephanie Kerr President

hankin

Costantinos Anastasakis Treasurer

Lardin ace

Stacey Landin Union Representative

ich

Stacey Dyck Jiricka Bargaining Committee Member

turence

Melissa Patterson Bargaining Committee Member

-		
D	ate	•
L	all	٠

September 21, 2023

## APPENDIX A - SALARY SCHEDULE

# Effective – January 1, 2023

Monthly Rates – January 1, 2023				
<u>Classification</u>	<u>Start</u>	<u>12 Months</u>	24 Months	Service <u>Recognition *</u>
Receptionist/Administrative Clerk	2755	3017	3125	3314
Revenue Management System Administrator 1	3343	3553	3762	3989
Revenue Management System Administrator 2	4269	4539	4800	5090
Communications Officer	4311	4583	4848	5140
Organizer	4311	4583	4848	5140
	<u>Start</u>	<u>6 Months</u>		
Summer Organizer	2927	3104		

\* Service Recognition: Upon reaching five (5) years of service with the Employer, the Employee shall receive a six per cent (6%) increase in pay to their classification.

HOURLY RATES – JANUARY 1, 2023		
<u>Classification</u>	<u>Start</u>	
Call Centre Supervisor	21.49	
Canvasser	16.65	
Maintenance	21.30	

## APPENDIX A - SALARY SCHEDULE

# Effective – January 1, 2024

<u>Monthly Rates – January 1, 2024</u>				
<u>Classification</u>	<u>Start</u>	<u>12 Months</u>	24 Months	Service <u>Recognition *</u>
Receptionist/Administrative Clerk	2810	3078	3188	3380
Revenue Management System Administrator 1	3409	3624	3837	4069
Revenue Management System Administrator 2	4354	4630	4896	5192
Communications Officer	4397	4675	4945	5243
Organizer	4397	4675	4945	5243
	<u>Start</u>	<u>6 Months</u>		
Summer Organizer	2986	3166		

\* Service Recognition: Upon reaching five (5) years of service with the Employer, the Employee shall receive a six per cent (6%) increase in pay to their classification.

HOURLY RATES – JANUARY 1, 2024		
<u>Classification</u>	Start	
Call Centre Supervisor	21.92	
Canvasser	16.98	
Maintenance	21.73	

#### APPENDIX A - SALARY SCHEDULE

# Effective – January 1, 2025

#### MONTHLY RATES - JANUARY 1, 2025

Classification	<u>Start</u>	<u>12 Months</u>	24 Months	Service <u>Recognition *</u>
Receptionist/Administrative Clerk	2894	3170	3283	3482
Revenue Management System Administrator 1	3512	3732	3952	4191
Revenue Management System Administrator 2	4485	4769	5043	5347
Communications Officer	4529	4815	5093	5400
Organizer	4529	4815	5093	5400
	Start	<u>6 Months</u>		
Summer Organizer	3076	3261		

\* Service Recognition: Upon reaching five (5) years of service with the Employer, the Employee shall receive a six per cent (6%) increase in pay to their classification.

HOURLY RATES – JANUARY 1, 2025		
<u>Classification</u>	Start	
Call Centre Supervisor	22.58	
Canvasser	17.49	
Maintenance	22.38	

#### CALL CENTRE SUPERVISOR

It is hereby understood and agreed between the parties that the duties and conditions for the classification of "Call Centre Supervisor" are set out as follows.

Working under the **Provincial Secretary** or their designate, the duties of the Call Centre Supervisor include the following:

- 1. To recruit, train and schedule **Canvassers conducting telephone contact to households**;
- 2. To ensure all tracking forms and paperwork are accurately completed and routed appropriately;
- 3. To ensure the appropriate **updates and follow up requests are provided to provincial office staff and constituency executives** in a timely fashion.

The Call Centre Supervisor is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. There shall be exemptions from pension plan (Article 28), seniority (Article 14), layoff and recall (Article 16), and hours of work (Article 5);
- 2. The hourly wage for the position will be listed in Appendix A Salary Schedule;
- 3. An additional two dollars (\$2.00) per hour in addition to the regular hourly wage will be paid to the position of Call Centre Supervisor for work performed from the issuance of the Writ of Election up to and including Election Day for both Provincial and Federal Elections.
- 4. This is a temporary position, terminating upon seven (7) days notice;
- 5. Six per cent (6%) of gross will be paid to Employees in lieu of a pension plan.

All other terms and conditions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement shall apply.

"Stacey Landin" On behalf of COPE Local 397

"Tim Williams" On behalf of NDP (Saskatchewan Section)

Revised: January 16, 2017 Revised: June 17, 2014 Revised: March 31, 2011 Original: September 28, 1994

#### CANVASSERS

It is hereby understood and agreed between the parties that the duties and conditions for the classification of "Canvasser" are set out as follows.

Working under the Provincial Secretary Outreach or their designate, the duties of the **Canvasser** include the following:

- 1. To complete telephone **or door-to-door** contact to households as assigned;
- 2. To follow the essence of the script provided;
- 3. To represent the Party professionally;
- 4. To complete all tracking forms and paperwork accurately.

The **Canvassers** are subject to the following conditions:

- 1. There shall be exemptions from the pension plan (Article 28), seniority (Article 14), layoff and recall (Article 16), and hours of work (Article 5);
- 2. The hourly wage for the position will be listed in Appendix A Salary Schedule;
- 3. An additional two dollars (\$2.00) per hour in addition to the regular hourly wage will be paid to the positions of **Canvasser** for work performed from the issuance of the Writ of Election up to and including Election Day for both Provincial and Federal Elections.
- 4. This is a temporary position, terminating upon seven (7) days notice;

All other terms and conditions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement shall apply.

"Stacey Landin" On behalf of COPE Local 397

"Tim Williams" On behalf of NDP (Saskatchewan Section)

Revised: June 17, 2014 Revised: April 19, 2004 Original: September 16, 1994

#### SUMMER ORGANIZER

It is hereby understood and agreed between the parties that the duties and conditions for the classification of 'Summer Organizer' are set out as follows:

Working under the Assistant Provincial Secretary Outreach or their designate, the duties of the Summer Organizer including the following:

- 1. To complete telephone or door-to-door contact to households as assigned;
- 2. To assist the organizers in the support of local constituency associations;
- 3. To assist the organizers in membership drives, PAC drives and organizing events as assigned;
- 4. To complete data entry;
- 5. To recruit and train volunteers to assist in data entry and door-to-door contact;
- 6. To promote the Saskatchewan New Democratic Party;
- 7. To represent the Party professionally;
- 8. Other duties as assigned.

The Summer Organizer are subject to the following conditions:

- 1. There shall be exemptions from the pension plan (Article 28), seniority (Article 14), layoff and recall (Article 16).
- 2. This position will be considered part of the organizing staff as per Article 8.
- 3. The monthly salary for the position will be listed in Appendix A Salary Schedule
- 4. This is a term position of up to four months terminating upon the completion of the term.

All other terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement shall apply.

"Stacey Landin" On behalf of COPE Local 397

"Tim Williams" On behalf of NDP (Saskatchewan Section)

Revised: September 30, 2021/ Original: January 16, 2017 January 16, 2017

January 11, 2017

#### JOINT COMMITMENT TO TRUTH AND RECONCILIATION

Both parties recognize that reconciliation is an ongoing process that necessitates meaningful collaboration and education in the workplace.

In order to advance this process, the Employer, shall provide education on the history and legacy of residential schools, the United Nations Declaration of the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and Aboriginal rights, Indigenous law, and Aboriginal-Crown relations.

"Stacey Landin" On behalf of COPE Local 397

"Tim Williams" On behalf of NDP (Saskatchewan Section)

Original: December 15, 2022

# APPENDIX C

#### LEAVE OF ABSENCE - DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE PLAN

Purpose:	To enable permanent full-time Employees to plan and finance a leave of absence.
Policy:	The Deferred Salary Leave Plan (DSLP) offers Employees the opportunity to defer up to 33 $1/_{3}$ % of their basic salary to finance a future leave of absence. The DSLP must operate within the Revenue Canada Income Tax Regulations (Appendix "E").
Application:	The leave is open to all permanent full-time Employees of the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section) who have completed a minimum of five (5) years of continuous service.
Length of Leave:	The leave cannot be less than six (6) consecutive months (three (3) months if attending a designated educational institution) and cannot exceed twelve (12) consecutive months.
Benefits	See Appendix "E"
Approval:	The request will be forwarded for approval to the Assistant Provincial Secretary.
Application:	When the DSLP request is approved, a formal contract will be signed between the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section) and the Employee outlining the terms and conditions of the leave.

## APPENDIX D

#### SALARY DEFERRAL ARRANGEMENT As Outlined in the Revenue Canada Material

- 1. It is to be an arrangement in writing between the Employee and Employee.
- 2. The arrangement is not to provide benefits to the Employee on or after retirement.
- 3. Leave of absence from employment is not to be less than:
  - (i) three (3) months for educational leave at a designated educational institution;
  - (ii) six (6) months in other cases.

The leave of absence should commence immediately following the deferral period unless extenuating circumstances exist. In no case will the deferral period be extended longer than six years in duration.

- 4. The amount of salary deferred is not to exceed 33 1/3 per cent of the salary the Employee would reasonably have expected to receive per calendar year.
- 5. The Employee does not receive any salary from the Employer other than:
  - (i) the amounts of the salary deferral;
  - (ii) the reasonable fringe benefits that the Employer usually pays to or on behalf of the Employee.
- 6. The arrangement provides for the funds to be held in trust for the Employee and interest that may have accrued for the benefit of the Employee shall be paid to the Employee. The interest will be treated as employment income and will be reported on the Employee's T4 and will be subject to withholding taxes.
- 7. Upon return, the Employee is to remain with the Employer for a period not less than the duration of the leave.
- 8. All funds deferred are to be paid out to the Employee no later than the end of the first taxation year which commences after the end of the deferral period.

#### APPENDIX E

#### **EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER INFORMATION**

ITEM	COST	COMMENT
Pension	Voluntary contributions may be made by Employee.	Contributions are paid on full salary during the period of deferral. Therefore, no contributions are required during the period of leave but the leave will count as pensionable service. Voluntary pension contributions may be made at any time during the leave but will not be matched by the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section).
Employment Insurance	No premiums payable.	The Deductions for EI are made on the gross salary before deferrals during the period of deferral. Therefore, no deductions are required during the period of leave.
Canada Pension Plan	Employee must pay contributions	This period of leave counts as pensionable service. CPP contributions are made on the Employee's salary net of deferred amounts during the period of deferral and on the deferred amounts when paid during the period of leave. The New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section) will continue to pay the Employer's portion of CPP.
Income Tax	Tax is deferred during the period of salary deferral on the amount of salary deferred.	No tax is deducted on the deferred salary amounts during the period of deferral. Deferred salary is taxed when withdrawn from the Company by the Employee. Taxes will be deducted at the appropriate rates. Note: Should the Employee fail to take leave as required under the plan, all deferred amounts held will be included in income in the current year.
Coverage for: • Group Life • AD&D • Long Term Disability • Dental Plan • Extended Health	Employer continues to pay for items presently provided. Employee pays for Employee paid items.	Coverage continues while on Leave. Amounts payable by Employee will be collected upon return or arrangements can be made for payment by post-dated cheques.

Deferred Salary

# COMMENT

The deferred salary will be held by the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section) and interest will be paid on a monthly basis. Interest will be calculated based on the average bank prime rate less three percent. Interest will be paid annually to the Employee and treated as income from employment and reported on the Employee's T4.

Funds will be paid out in equal instalments over the course of the leave.

This deferred amount can be either a percentage of gross salary or a fixed dollar amount deducted from each paycheque. Adjustments can be made on an annual basis at the anniversary of the commencement of deferral by making a written request directed to the Employer.

A person who ceases to be employed by the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section), must withdraw from the plan. Within sixty (60) days, the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section), shall pay the participant the deferred compensation amount including any interest accrued.

Should the participant die, the New Democratic party (Saskatchewan Section), shall, within sixty (60) days of notification of death, pay the deferred compensation amount to the participant's estate.

ITEM
------

COST

# Cancellation/Postponement of Leave

# COMMENT

Withdrawal/postponement will be permitted at the discretion of the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section), only in the event of financial or other hardship. Situations will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis and must be presented in writing explaining the reason withdrawal/postponement is necessary and providing at least 30 days' notice is given.

The New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section) may also cancel/postpone the leave provided reasons are provided and giving the Employee at least three months' notice.

In any event, no postponement by either the Employee or the New Democratic Party (Saskatchewan Section) will be permitted to result in a commencement of the leave of absence more than six years after the salary deferral commenced.

If a leave of absence is cancelled, the deferred amounts and any interest accrued but not paid on the deferred amounts will be included as employment income in the year of cancellation.

# INDEX

Access to the Workplace	18
Accumulation of Sick Leave	
Advance Notice of Layoff	
Adverse Report	
Agree to Negotiate	
Allowances and Expenses	
Amount of Paid Sick Leave	6
Appendix A – Salary Schedule – Effective – January 1, 2020	29
Appendix A – Salary Schedule – Effective – January 1, 2023	27
Appendix A – Salary Schedule – Effective – January 1, 2024	
Appendix B – Letter of Understanding No. 1 – Call Centre Supervisor	30
Appendix B – Letter of Understanding No. 2 – Call Centre Interviewers	
Appendix B – Letter of Understanding No. 2 – Can Centre Interviewers	
Appendix B – Letter of Understanding No. 3 – Summer Student.	32
Appendix B – Letter of Understanding No. 4 – Joint Commitment to Truth and Reconciliation	
Appendix C – Leave of Absence – Deferred Salary Leave Plan	34
Appendix E – Employee Benefits and Other Information	
Appendix E – Salary Deferral Arrangement	
Approved Leave of Absence During Vacation	5
Arbitration – Access	17
Arbitration – Amending of Time Limits	16
Arbitration – Article 22	
Arbitration – Board Procedure	
Arbitration – Board Flocedure	
Arbitration – Decision of the Board	
Arbitration – Disagreement on Decision	
Arbitration – Expenses of the Board	
Arbitration – Failure to Appoint	
Arbitration – Single Arbitrator	16
Arbitration – Witnesses	17
Article 1 – Purpose	
Article 10 – Vacations	
Article 11 – Sick Leave Provisions	
Article 12 – Leave of Absence	
Article 12 – Education Leave and Examinations	
Article 15 – Education Leave and Examinations	9
Article 15 – Vacancies and Promotions	
Article 16 – Layoffs and Recalls	
Article 17 – Job Security	
Article 18 – Fair Employment and Equal Pay for Equal Work	12
Article 19 – Resignations	13
Article 2 – Rights of the Employer	
Article 20 – Discharge, Suspension and Discipline	
Article 21 – Grievance Procedure	
Article 22 – Arbitration	
Article 23 – Labour Management Bargaining Relations	
Article 24 – Health and Safety	
Article 25 – Technological Change	
Article 26 – Payment of Wages and Allowances	
Article 27 – Job Classification and Reclassification	22
Article 28 – Employee Benefit Plans	22
Article 29 – General Conditions	23
Article 3 – Bargaining Agency	
Article 30 – Permanent Part-time Employees	
Article 31 – Term of Agreement	
Article 4 – Union Security	
Article 5 – Hours of Work – Clerical and Office Employees	
Article 6 – Overtime – Clerical and Office Employees	
Article 7 – Hours of Work – Maintenance/Caretaker Position	
Article 8 – Service Requirements, Organizers & Communication Staff	3
Article 9 – Paid Holidays	4
Assigned, Promoted or Reclassified	20
Banking Vacation Credits	
Bargaining Agency – Article 3	
Benefit Plan	

Bulletin Boards	
Burden of Proof	
Changes in Agreement	
Changes in Classifications Within the Bargaining Unit	
Collective Bargaining	
Commencement	
Compassionate Leave	
Compensation for Holidays Falling Within Vacation Schedule	
Compliance with Health and Safety Legislation	
Continuation of Acquired Rights	
Cooperation on Safety	1
Correspondence	
CPR Training	
Crossing of Picket Lines During Strike	
Deduction from Sick Leave	
Deductions	
Deferred Salary Leave Plan	
Deferred Salary Leave Plan (DSLP)	
Definition of Layoff	
Definition of Layoff	1
Designation of Supervisor	
Discharge, Suspension and Discipline – Article 20	
Discipline Procedure	
Dues	
Dues Deductions	
Duration	
Earned Sick Leave on Termination	
Earned Vacation and Sick Leave on Death	
Education Leave and Examinations – Article 13	
Employee and Family Assistance Plan	
Employee Benefit Plans – Article 28	
Employee Benefits and Other Information – Appendix E	
Employer May Institute Grievances	
Employer May institute Onevanees Employer Payment of Employee Benefits During Maternity and Parental Leave	
Expenses – In Town	
Expenses – In Town	∠
Fair Employment and Equal Pay for Equal Work – Article 18	
General Conditions – Article 29	
General Leave	
Grievance - Definition of Grievance	
Grievance – Deviation from Grievance Procedure	1
Grievance - Facilities for Grievances	10
Grievance - Mutually-Agreed Changes	10
Grievance – Policy Grievance	
Grievance – Replies in Writing	
Grievance – Settling of Grievances	
Grievance – Union May Institute Grievances	
Grievance – Union May Institute Grievances	
Grievance and Arbitration Pay Provisions	
Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls	
Grievance on Safety, Etc	
Grievance Procedure – Article 21	
Grievance Steps	
Harassment	
Health and Safety – Article 24	
Health and Safety Committee Pay Provisions	
Health and Safety Grievance	
Hiring Up-Range	
Hours of Work – Clerical and Office Employees – Article 5	
Hours of Work – Ciencar and Office Employees – Affice 5 Hours of Work – Maintenance/Caretaker Position – Article 7	
Identification Cards	
Illness in the Family	
Increments	
Information in Postings	
Job Classification and Reclassification - Article 27	
Job Description	
Job Postings	
Job Security – Article 17	
Labour Management Bargaining Relations – Article 23	
Labour Management Bargaining Relations – Function of Bargaining Committee	
Labour Management Bargaining Relations – Function of Bargaining Committee	
Labour Management Bargaining Relations – Representatives	1 1'
Labour Management Bargaining Relations - Representatives	
Labour Management Bargaining Relations - Technical Information	1

Labour Management Bargaining Relations - Time Off for Meetings	17
Labour Management Bargaining Relations – Union Accommodations	
Labour Management Bargaining Relations – Union Bargaining Committee	
Layoff Re-employment	
Layoffs and Recalls – Article 16	
Leave of Absence – Article 12	
Leave of Absence – Deferred Salary Leave Plan – Appendix C Leave of Absence for Full-Time Union or Public Office	
Leave of Absence for Union Functions	
Leave of Absence for Onion 7 difetions	
Length of Vacation	
Letter of Reference	
Letter of Understanding No. 1 - Call Centre Supervisor	
Letter of Understanding No. 2 – Call Centre Interviewers	
Letter of Understanding No. 3 – Summer Student	
Letter of Understanding No. 4 – Joint Commitment to Truth and Reconciliation	
Loss of Seniority Medical Certificate	
Meetings	
Meetings	
Minimum Vacation	
Moving Costs	
Negotiation Pay Provisions	7
New Employees	2
No New Employees	
No Other Agreements	
No Outside Advertising Notice	
Notification to Employee and Union	
Organizing Vacancies	
Out-of-Province Assignments	
Overtime - Clerical and Office Employees - Article 6	
Paid Bereavement Leave	9
Paid Holidays – Article 9	
Paid Jury or Court Witness Duty Leave	
Parental Leave	
Pay Days	
Pay During Leave of Absence for Union Work or Convention Payment of Wages and Allowances – Article 26	
Pension Plan	
Performance of Higher Duties	
Performance of Lower Duties	
Permanent Part-time Employees – Article 30	
Permission to Leave Work	
Personal Rights	
Personnel Records	
Political Action Present Conditions and Privileges	
Previous Service	
Principle of Innocence	
Probation for Newly-Hired Employees	
Procedure Upon Return From Maternity and Parental Leave	
Proper Training	
Protection During Maternity	
Provisions to Apply	
Purpose – Article 1	
Recall Procedure Recognition	
Recognition of Union Stewards and Grievance Committee	
Resignations – Article 19.	
Return to Work – Compensable Injury	
Right to Have Steward Present	
Right to Refuse or Stop Unsafe Work	
Rights of the Employer – Article 2	1
Role of Seniority in Layoffs	
Role of Seniority in Promotions, Transfers, and Staff Changes	
Safety and Health Reports, Records and Data Salary Deferral Arrangement – Appendix D	
Salary Deterral Arrangement – Appendix D Salary Schedule – Effective – January 1, 2023	
Salary Schedule – Effective – January 1, 2023	
Collective Bargaining Agreement – COPE Local 397 and NDP (Saskatchewan Section)	Page 41

Salary Schedule – Effective – January 1, 2025	
Scope	1
Seniority – Article 14	
Seniority Defined	
Seniority List	
Seniority Status During Maternity and Parental Leave	7
Service Requirements, Organizers & Communication Staff - Article 8	
Severance Pay	
Sick Leave Defined	
Sick Leave During Leave of Absence	6
Sick Leave Provisions – Article 11	
Sick Leave Records	
Starter Kit	
Technological Change – Article 25	
Technological Change - Calculation of Severance Pay	
Technological Change - Data Supplied	
Technological Change – Disputes	
Technological Change - Employer to Bargain	
Technological Change – New Jobs	
Technological Change - Notice to be Given	
Technological Change – Severance	
Technological Change – Training	
Technological Change - Training Benefits	
Technological Change - Transfer and Bumping Rights	
Temporary Layoff	
Term of Agreement – Article 31	
Time Off	
Time Off for Health and Safety Training	
Training Course	
Trial Period	
Unbroken Vacation Period	
Union Officers and Committee Members	2
Union Security – Article 4	2
Union Shop	
Union/Employer Health and Safety Committee	
Vacancies and Promotions – Article 15	
Vacation Pay on Termination	
Vacations – Article 10	
Warning	
Withdrawal	
Work of the Bargaining Unit	
Workers' Compensation Protection	